
NOTICE

OF

MEETING

WINDSOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT PANEL

will meet on

WEDNESDAY, 6TH MARCH, 2019

At 7.00 pm

in the

COUNCIL CHAMBER - GUILDHALL WINDSOR 

TO: MEMBERS OF THE WINDSOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PANEL

COUNCILLORS DR LILLY EVANS (CHAIRMAN), CHRISTINE BATESON (VICE-
CHAIRMAN), MICHAEL AIREY, DAVID HILTON, JOHN LENTON, SAYONARA LUXTON, 
JULIAN SHARPE, MALCOLM BEER AND LYNNE JONES 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS
COUNCILLORS JOHN BOWDEN, NICOLA PRYER, EILEEN QUICK, JACK RANKIN, 
SAMANTHA RAYNER, JOHN STORY, COLIN RAYNER AND WISDOM DA COSTA

Karen Shepherd – Service Lead, Governance - Issued: Tuesday, 26 February 2019

Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 
web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator Andy Carswell 01628 796319

Accessibility - Members of the public wishing to attend this meeting are requested to notify the clerk in advance of 
any accessibility issues

Fire Alarm - In the event of the fire alarm sounding or other emergency, please leave the building quickly and calmly 
by the nearest exit. Do not stop to collect personal belongings and do not use the lifts. Do not re-enter the building 
until told to do so by a member of staff.

Recording of Meetings –In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the public part of the meeting will be 
audio recorded, and may also be filmed and broadcast through the online application Periscope. If filmed, the footage 

Public Document Pack

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


will be available through the council’s main Twitter feed @RBWM or via the Periscope website. The audio recording 
will also be made available on the RBWM website, after the meeting. 

Filming, recording and photography of public Council meetings may be undertaken by any person attending the 
meeting. By entering the meeting room you are acknowledging that you may be audio or video recorded and that this 
recording will be in the public domain. If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to the 
Democratic Services or Legal representative at the meeting



AGENDA

PART I
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any Declarations of Interest.
 

5 - 6

3.  MINUTES

To confirm the Part I Minutes of the meeting of the previous meeting
 

7 - 8

4.  PLANNING APPLICATIONS (DECISION)

To consider the Head of Planning’s report on planning applications received.
 
Full details on all planning applications (including application forms, site 
plans, objections received, correspondence etc.) can be found by accessing 
the Planning Applications Public Access Module at 
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/pam/search.jsp.
 

9 - 46

5.  ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING)

To consider the Essential Monitoring Reports.
 

47 - 48

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/pam/search.jsp




LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 
1985, each item on this report includes a list of Background Papers that have been 
relied 
on to a material extent in the formulation of the report and recommendation. 
The list of Background Papers will normally include relevant previous planning decisions, 
replies to formal consultations and relevant letter of representation received from local 
societies, and members of the public. For ease of reference, the total number of letters 
received from members of the public will normally be listed as a single Background 
Paper, 
although a distinction will be made where contrary views are expressed. Any replies to 
consultations that are not received by the time the report goes to print will be recorded 
as 
“Comments Awaited”. 
The list will not include published documents such as the Town and Country Planning 
Acts 
and associated legislation, Department of the Environment Circulars, the Berkshire 
Structure Plan, Statutory Local Plans or other forms of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance, 
as the instructions, advice and policies contained within these documents are common 
to 
the determination of all planning applications. Any reference to any of these documents 
will be made as necessary under the heading “Remarks”. 
 
STATEMENT OF THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 was brought into force in this country on 2nd October 2000, 
and it will now, subject to certain exceptions, be directly unlawful for a public authority to 
act in a way which is incompatible with a Convention right. In particular, Article 8 
(respect 
for private and family life) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (peaceful enjoyment of property) 
apply to planning decisions. When a planning decision is to be made however, there is 
further provision that a public authority must take into account the public interest. In the 
vast majority of cases existing planning law has for many years demanded a balancing 
exercise between private rights and public interest, and therefore much of this authority’s 
decision making will continue to take into account this balance. 
The Human Rights Act will not be referred to in the Officer’s report for individual 
applications beyond this general statement, unless there are exceptional circumstances 
which demand more careful and sensitive consideration of Human Rights issues. 

5

Agenda Item 2



MEMBERS’ GUIDANCE NOTE 
 

DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS 
 
 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS (DPIs) 
 
 
DPIs include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any 
expenses occurred in carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed 
which has not been fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any license to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in 
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, 
and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class belonging to the relevant person exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS 
This is an interest which a reasonable fair minded and informed member of the public would 
reasonably believe is so significant that it harms or impairs your ability to judge the public 
interest. That is, your decision making is influenced by your interest that you are not able to 
impartially consider only relevant issues.   
 
DECLARING INTERESTS 
If you have not disclosed your interest in the register, you must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as you are aware that you have a DPI or  
Prejudicial Interest.  If you have already disclosed the interest in your Register of Interests 
you are still required to disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.  
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the 
item but  must not take part in discussion or vote at a meeting. The term ‘discussion’ 
has been taken to mean a discussion by the members of the committee or other body 
determining the issue.  You should notify Democratic Services before the meeting of your 
intention to speak. In order to avoid any accusations of taking part in the discussion or vote, 
you must move to the public area, having made your representations.  
 
If you have any queries then you should obtain advice from the Legal or Democratic Services 
Officer before participating in the meeting. 
 
If the interest declared has not been entered on to your Register of Interests, you must notify 
the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.  
 
 
 

6



WINDSOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PANEL

WEDNESDAY, 9 JANUARY 2019

PRESENT: Councillors Dr Lilly Evans (Chairman), Christine Bateson (Vice-Chairman), 
Michael Airey, David Hilton, John Lenton, Julian Sharpe, Lynda Yong and 
Malcolm Beer

Officers: Victoria Gibson, Neil Allen and David Cook

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Luxton. 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Cllr Hilton – Declared a personal interest in planning applications items 1 and 2 as a member 
of Sunninghill and Ascot Parish Council. He stated that he had not been present at the Parish 
Council meeting when the items were discussed.  Cllr Hilton also declared a further personal 
interest in the items as his wife had registered as a speaker on behalf of the Parish Council.

Cllr Sharpe – Stated in the interests of transparency that his wife was Chairman of
Sunninghill and Ascot Parish Council, although he was not a member of the Parish Council.

MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting on the 12 December 2018 were approved as a true and correct 
record. 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS (DECISION) 

NB: Items subject to a Panel update are marked with an asterisk.

18/02653/FULL* Mr McDermott: Change of use/conversion and extension of existing 
mixed use office/residential building to provide 7 self-contained flats 
with associated parking to include electronic gates. Annexe Kingswick 
House Kingswick Drive Ascot.– THE PANEL VOTED UNANIMOUSLY 
to REFUSE the application against officer recommendations for 
the following reasons: The proposal represents an 
overdevelopment of the site due to the bulk and scale of the 
extensions and level of hard standing resulting in an overall poor 
design which would cause harm to the character and appearance 
of the area. The proposal fails to respond positively to the 
character of the area defined in the Council’s Townscape 
Assessment as Post War Suburbs. As such the proposal is 
contrary to the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local 
Plan Policies H10, H11 and DG1, Policies NP/DG1 and NP/DG2 of 
the Ascot and Sunninghill and Sunningdale Neighbourhood Plan 
(2011-2026) and Paragraphs 127 and 130 of the NPPF.  Reference 
was also made to the fact that 80% of the available land would be 
developed which would be clearly at odds with the prevailing 
character of the area and that the proposal was more akin to a 
town centre development than an appropriate form of development 
expected to see in an area defined as Post War Suburbs.

7

Agenda Item 3



The Panel were addressed by Mr Lee (objector), Mrs Hilton (Parish 
Council) and Mrs Jarvis (applicants representative).

The motion to refuse was proposed by Cllr Hilton and seconded by Cllr M Airey.

18/03065/FULL* Ascot United Football Club: New Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP), 
installation of fencing and entrance gates to AGP perimeter, pitch 
perimeter barrier and entrance gates within AGP enclosure, new hard 
standing areas, replacement floodlight system, maintenance equipment 
store, gates to football ground boundary and soft landscaping. Winkfield 
Road Ascot SL5 7LJ – THE PANEL VOTED UNANIMOUSLY to 
APPROVE the application, subject to the conditions listed in the 
main report and update sheet, as per the Officer’s 
recommendation.

The Panel was addressed by Mrs Hilton (Parish Council) and Mr 
Harrison (applicant).

The motion to approve was proposed by Cllr Yong and seconded by Cllr Hilton.

ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING) 

Resolved unanimously: that the updates be noted. 

The meeting, which began at 19.00, finished at 20.05.

CHAIRMAN……………………………….

DATE………………………………..........

8



AGLIST 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD 
 

Windsor Rural Panel 
 

6th March 2019 
 

INDEX 
 

APP = Approval 

CLU = Certificate of Lawful Use 

DD = Defer and Delegate 

DLA = Defer Legal Agreement 

PERM = Permit 

PNR = Prior Approval Not Required 

REF = Refusal 

WA = Would Have Approved 

WR = Would Have Refused 

 
 

 
 

Item No. 1 
 

Application No. 18/00273/FULL Recommendation DD Page No.  

Location: Hatchet Lane Farm  Hatchet Lane Ascot SL5 8QE 
 

Proposal: Conversion of existing residential dwelling and outbuildings to 7 No. dwellings with associated works. 
 

Applicant: Mr Walton Masters Member Call-in: N/A Expiry Date: 8 March 2019 

 __________________________________________________________________________________  
 

Item No. 2 
 

Application No. 18/03507/FULL Recommendation PERM Page No.  

Location: 1 The Avenue Old Windsor Windsor SL4 2RS 
 

Proposal: Two storey front extension, two storey rear extension, loft conversion with new front and side facing dormers, 
sub-division to create 5 X one bedroom flats with bin and cycle stores following demolition of the existing 
garage. 
 

Applicant: Mr Hunter Member Call-in: N/A Expiry Date: 8 March 2019 

 __________________________________________________________________________________  
 

9

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



   

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
WINDSOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL 

 
6 March 2019          Item:  1 

Application 
No.: 

18/00273/FULL 

Location: Hatchet Lane Farm  Hatchet Lane Ascot SL5 8QE 
Proposal: Conversion of existing residential dwelling and outbuildings to 7 No. dwellings with 

associated works. 
Applicant: Mr Walton Masters 
Agent: Mr Warren Joseph 
Parish/Ward: Sunninghill And Ascot Parish/Ascot And Cheapside Ward 
  

If you have a question about this report, please contact:  Jo Richards on 01628 682955 or at 
jo.richards@rbwm.gov.uk 

 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Planning permission is sought for the conversion of the existing residential dwelling and 

outbuildings (including stables and an agricultural barn) to 7 dwellings with associated residential 
curtilages and landscaping. The proposal also includes the replacement of an existing garage 
building. 

 
1.2 The proposal is considered to constitute appropriate development in the Green Belt, complying 

with paragraph 146 of the NPPF which allows for the re-use of buildings provided that the 
buildings are of permanent and substantial construction and provided that the development 
preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of including 
land in within it. 

 
1.3 The replacement of the existing garage building would comply with bullet point (d) of paragraph 

145 of the NPPF which allows for replacement buildings in the Green Belt provided they are in 
the same use and not materially larger than that which they replace. 

 
1.4 The proposal would result in minimal harm to the character of the area and has been found 

acceptable in regards to highway safety, impact on trees, wildlife and flooding risk. 
 
1.5 The Planning Authority have allowed additional information to be submitted throughout the 

course of the application to address concerns raised over impact on trees and flooding and to 
respond to changes in national planning policy over the matter of affordable housing.  

  

It is recommended the Panel authorises the Head of Planning: 

To grant planning permission on the satisfactory completion of an undertaking to 
secure an off-site affordable housing contribution and with the conditions listed in 
Section 13 of this report. 

To refuse planning permission if an undertaking to secure an off-site affordable 
housing contribution has not been satisfactorily completed for the reason that the 
proposed development would not comply with the Council’s affordable housing policy. 

 
2. REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION 
 

 The Council’s Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to 
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by the 
Panel. 

 

11



   

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
3.1 The site comprises a large detached dwelling and associated outbuildings, stable and agricultural 

barn, accessed off Winkfield Road in the Green Belt area of North Ascot. The site has two main 
vehicular accesses off Winkfield Road, the southern most access point serves the dwellinghouse 
and outbuildings, and the northern most access point serves the agricultural barn and land to the 
north and east of the application site. The majority of buildings are centred around an area of 
hard-surfacing. The residential land associated with the dwelling is vast but does not fill the entire 
application site. It is considered that some land within the application site falls outside residential 
use. 

 
3.2 The site is rural in character, with many trees and hedges surrounding the site. There is a 

prominent oak tree overhanging the existing stable block. The land surrounding the application 
site but also within the ownership of the applicant comprises open fields and agricultural land. 
The nearest residential properties are Cranbourne Corner, on the other side of Winkfield Road, 
and Brookside House, some 80m to the south of the application site. 

 
4. KEY CONSTRAINTS 
 
4.1 Green Belt 
 
 Flood zone 1 and 2 
 
 TPO trees 
 
5. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
5.1 The existing timber outbuildings opposite and to the north of the dwellinghouse would be 

converted into two semi-detached dwellinghouses with private garden areas to the north (plots 1 
and 2). The existing dwellinghouse is to be converted into provide a pair of semi-detached 
dwellinghouses with private garden areas to the south (plots 3 and 4). The existing stable 
building would be converted into two semi-detached dwellinghouses (plots 5 and 6) and the 
large, modern agricultural barn would be converted to a single dwellinghouse (plot 7) with a 
garden area to the north and south. The northern most access would be retained to serve this 
dwellinghouse and the two parking spaces for plot 1. 

 
5.2 A structural survey has been submitted in support of the application which confirms that the 

existing buildings are of permanent and substantial construction and capable of conversion. 
  
6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 

Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003) 
 
6.1 The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are: 
 

Issue Adopted Local Plan Policy 

Design in keeping with character and appearance 
of area 

DG1, H10,H11 

Appropriate development in the Green Belt GB1 and GB8 

Highways P4 and T5 

Trees N6 

Flooding  F1 

Affordable Housing H3 

 
 These policies can be found at 

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices 
 

Adopted Ascot Sunninghill and Sunningdale Neighbourhood Plan (2011-2026) 
 

12

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices


   

Issue Neighbourhood Plan Policy 

Design in keeping with character and appearance 
of area 

DG1, DG2 and DG3 

Highways T1 

Trees EN1 

 
Adopted The South East Plan – Regional Spatial Strategy  

  

Issue Plan Policy 

Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area NRM6 

 
7. MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS  
 
 National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2018) 
 
7.1 Section 4- Decision–making  

Section 9- Promoting Sustainable Transport  
Section 12- Achieving well-designed places  
Section 13- Protecting Green Belt land  

 Section 14- Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
  
 Borough Local Plan: Submission Version  
 

Issue Local Plan Policy Level of weight 

Appropriate Development in Green 
Belt and acceptable impact on Green 
Belt   

SP1, SP5 
Significant 

Design in keeping with character and 
appearance of area 

SP2, SP3 
Significant 

Acceptable impact on River Thames 
corridor  

SP4 
Significant 

Manages flood risk and waterways  NR1 Limited 

Makes suitable provision for 
infrastructure  

IF1 
Significant 

 
7.2 The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 

according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was 
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following 
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations 
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received 
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents have now been 
submitted to the Secretary of State for examination. The Submission Version of the Borough 
Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough. However, by 
publishing and submitting the Borough Local Plan for independent examination the Council has 
formally confirmed its intention to adopt the submission version. As the Council considers the 
emerging Borough Local Plan to be sound and legally compliant, officers and Councillors should 
accord relevant policies and allocations significant weight in the determination of applications 
taking account of the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies. 
Therefore, the weight afforded to each policy at this stage will differ depending on the level and 
type of representation to that policy. This is addressed in more detail in the assessment below 
and detailed in the table above. 

 
This document can be found at: 
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/201026/borough_local_plan/1351/submission/1 

 
 
 
 
 
 Supplementary planning documents 

13

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/201026/borough_local_plan/1351/submission/1


   

 
7.3 Supplementary planning documents adopted by the Council relevant to the proposal are: 
 

  The Interpretation of Policy F1 (Area Liable to Flooding) Supplementary Planning Guidance 
(SPG) 2004 

 
 More information on these documents can be found at: 

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planni
ng 

 
Other Local Strategies or Publications 

 
7.4 Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are: 
 

  RBWM Townscape Assessment – view at: 

  RBWM Parking Strategy – view at:  
 
 More information on these documents can be found at:  
 https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planni

ng 
 
8. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 
 Comments from interested parties 
 
 3 neighbouring occupiers were notified directly of the application. 
 
 The planning officer posted a notice advertising the application at the site on 22nd February and 

the application was advertised in the Maidenhead & Windsor Advertiser on 15th February 2018. 
  
  2 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised as:  
 

Comment 
Where in the 
report this is 
considered 

1. Increase in vehicles joining Hatchet Lane/Winkfield Road at a 
dangerous junction 

Section 6.18-
6.21 

2. Concerns about increased traffic and congestion Section 6.18-
6.21 

3. The Highways Officer must visit the site Section 6.18-
6.21 

4. The barn was built on green belt land for agricultural use and should not 
be converted to a house 

Section 6.2-6.8 

 
 Statutory consultees 
 

Consultee Comment 
Where in the 
report this is 
considered 

Environment 
Agency 

No objection to Flood Risk Assessment. Site is in Flood 
Zone 2 and LPA must follow standing advice. 

The majority of 
the site is within 
flood zone 1, only 
and small portion 
of the access is 
within flood zone 
2. The applicants 
have 
demonstrated 
safe access and 
egress to and 

14

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning


   

from the site. 

LLFA The applicant needs to demonstrate that a workable 
surface water drainage scheme can be delivered. Further 
information is therefore required before the application can 
be supported. 

These details 
have been 
requested from 
the applicant and 
the 
recommendation 
is subject to 
receipt of 
favourable 
comments from 
the LLFA 

 
 Other consultees 
 

Consultee Comment 
Where in the 
report this is 
considered 

Parish 
Council 

Objections. The lack of information regarding the details of 
the individual houses was noted and concerns were 
expressed about surface water and the need for a drainage 
scheme. The committee thought that the application needed 
to demonstrate very special circumstances for such a 
development within the Green Belt and also thought that the 
proposal would increase traffic and activity on the site. 

See main report 

Ecologist No objection subject to condition Noted 

Tree Officer No objection to amended plans, subject to condition Noted 

Highways The recommended visibility splays from the southern access 
point are not achieved however; the application proposes to 
reduce vehicular usage of this access by increasing the 
usage of the northern access point with acceptable visibility 
splays. The proposed garages do not satisfy spatial 
requirements stipulated within RBWM’s highway design 
guide; this should be reviewed and amended. 

The proposal 
has been 
amended and 
includes the 
replacement of 
the garage 
building 

 
9. EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION 
 
9.1 The key issues for consideration are: 
 

i whether the proposal represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt and 
whether the proposal would preserve the openness of the Green Belt and not conflict with 
the purposes of including land within it; 

 
ii whether the proposal would result in any impact on non-designated heritage asset 
 
iii flood risk 
 
iv impact on character 
 
v impacts on neighbouring occupiers and amenity of future residents 
 
vi impacts on protected wildlife and trees within the site 
 
vii parking and the impact of highway safety in the area 
 
viii Affordable Housing 
 
ix Other material considerations 

 

15



   

Green Belt 
 
9.2 Local plan policies GB1, GB2, GB3 and GB5 set the local policy context for residential 

development within the Green Belt and GB8 for the re-use of existing buildings. Policy GB1 sets 
out that inappropriate development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt and can only be 
approved in Very Special Circumstances. This is reiterated in paragraph 143 of the NPPF, while 
paragraphs 145 and 146 set out forms of development that are appropriate in the Green Belt. 
Policy GB2 seeks to resist development that would have a greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt than the existing development at the site, and policy GB3 sets out a very limited 
range or appropriate forms of residential development within the Green Belt. This includes re-use 
of existing buildings subject to there being no detrimental impact on the openness of the Green 
Belt. 

 
9.3 With regard to emerging policy, Borough Plan Policy SP5 states, with regard to the re-use of 

buildings, that the building must be of permanent and substantial construction and its form 
should be in keeping with its surroundings and should not require extensive reconstruction or a 
material change in size or scale. Furthermore, the proposed use must not have a materially 
greater impact than the present of last approved lawful use on the openness of the Green Belt 
and the purposes of including land within it. 

 
9.4 Plots 3 and 4 currently comprise a single permanent dwelling, whereas plots 1, 2, 5 and 6 

comprise small scale non-habitable timber buildings. For the proposal to be acceptable, the 
buildings would have to be of permanent and substantial construction and in sound condition and 
of a form, bulk and general design, which are in keeping with the surroundings. The proposal 
must also not result in extensive reconstruction of the building or a material increase in their size 
or scale. This is consistent with paragraph 146 of the NPPF. The application has been supported 
by a structural survey which confirms that existing buildings 1, 2, 5 and 6 are of permanent and 
substantial construction. Furthermore, these buildings are considered to be in keeping with their 
surroundings in terms of design and appearance. 

 
9.5 The replacement of the existing garage with a marginally larger garage building would comply 

with bullet point (d) of paragraph 145 of the NPPF. This part of the proposal is necessary as the 
existing garages are substandard in terms of their size according to current highway regulations. 

 
9.6 The conversion of the agricultural barn to a dwellinghouse would in itself comply with the terms 

of policy GB8 and paragraph 146 of the NPPF, however the issue of residential curtilage may 
result in a greater impact on openness and purposes of the Green Belt and at this point it is 
perhaps necessary to view the proposal as a whole compared to the existing situation on site to 
ascertain whether the openness of the Green Belt would be preserved and/or whether any of the 
purposes of the Green Belt would be conflicted with. 

 
9.7 The planning history for the site is limited however historical maps provided with the Heritage 

Statement give a clear indication of the curtilage for the farm buildings. In 1912 the curtilage 
appears to be tightly drawn around the existing buildings, however by 1972, the curtilage had 
increased in size particularly to the south of the existing dwellinghouse and was consistent with 
what is on site today. It is clear therefore that the existing dwellinghouse has a large residential 
curtilage which can be used for domestic paraphernalia and would attract PD rights for 
outbuildings. Whilst only one dwellinghouse exists on site at present there are a number of 
outbuildings used for storage and a stable building (plots 5 and 6) which if used intensively would 
result in associated activity and equestrian paraphernalia. The agricultural barn remains outside 
the complex of residential buildings and stables thus causing minimal harm to the openness of 
the Green Belt aside from the physical presence of the building itself.  

 
9.8 Each dwellinghouse is shown to have a small residential curtilage including the converted 

agricultural barn, the result being that there would be the creation of residential curtilage on land 
which is currently used for agricultural purposes. Amended plans received during the course of 
the application show that the proposed curtilages for each dwellinghouse have been reduced 
and would now take up a smaller area than that currently used for the existing dwellinghouse. 
Coupled with the decrease in hard-surfacing across the site and the removal of fencing to open 
up the north-east part of the site (which can be controlled by condition), it is considered that on 

16



   

balance the proposal would preserve the openness of the Green Belt and not conflict with the 
purposes of including land within it when compared with the existing uses, if those uses were 
used to their full capacity. Indeed, regarding fencing, it is considered that through the proposal, 
the built form and associated activity can be consolidated to the submitted ‘Proposed Curtilages 
Plan’ allowing for increased openness surrounding the application site. It is therefore concluded 
that the proposal, when viewed as a whole would not result in an encroachment into the 
countryside, or be harmful to the rural character of the Green Belt. 

 
 Heritage Impacts 
 
9.9 At the pre-application enquiry stage, concerns were raised as to whether the complex of rural 

buildings proposed as plots 1-6 may constitute an undesignated heritage asset. The application 
has been submitted with an accompanying Heritage Statement which has assessed the 
significance of the application site in built heritage terms, including the intrinsic significance of the 
constituent buildings and their interest as a group. It concludes that the site and its constituent 
buildings are of only limited interest in heritage terms. 

 
 Flood Risk 
 
9.10 The NPPF advises that Local Planning Authorities should seek to reduce the overall level of 

flood risk, by seeking to relocate existing development to areas with a lower probability of 
flooding. New development is defined as more vulnerable use within the NPPF and the 
accompanying NPPG advises against locating such uses in areas of high flood risk and instead 
to steer new development to areas with the lowest possible risk of flooding. Consistent to this 
approach, Local Plan policy F1, advises that applications in flood-prone areas should be refused 
unless they avoid (i) putting additional people at risk of flooding, (ii) reducing the capacity of the 
flood plain to store water and/or (iii) impeding the flow of water. 

 
9.11 A very small portion of the site frontage lies within Flood Zone 2 and Environment agency 

mapping identifies a stream crossing the site. The buildings to be converted fall within Flood 
Zone 1 and therefore the sequential and exceptions test do not need to be applied. The 
environment agency have not objected to the application on grounds of flood risk. 

 
9.12 The southern-most vehicular access into the site is located in Flood Zone 2 which is to serve 

plots 1 and 3. Paragraph 5.6 of the updated Flood Risk Assessment sets out that access and 
egress for all plots is provided via the northern access, including plots 1 and 3, which is wholly 
within Flood Zone 1. 

 
9.13 The Lead Local Flood Authority is satisfied with the revised Flood Risk information submitted with 

the application subject to condition (condition 19) 
 
 Impact on character 
 
9.14 The key intentions of Local Plan policies DG1, H10 and H11 are to encourage a high standard of 

design in the layout, appearance and landscaping of new development, at similar densities to 
those prevalent in the area around application sites. Neighbourhood plan policies NP/DG2 and 
NP/DG3 are also relevant to the proposal in regard to impacts on the character of the area. 
Policy NP/DG2 requires new development to be similar in density footprint, separation, scale and 
bulk of the building to that of the surrounding area generally and of neighbouring properties in 
particular, unless it can be demonstrated that the proposed development would not harm local 
character. Policy NP/DG3 requires new development to demonstrate good quality design and to 
respect the character and appearance of the surrounding area. This policy goes on to say that 
development that fails to take the opportunities available for enhancing the local character and 
quality of the area and the way it functions should not be permitted.  

 
9.15 The scale and appearance of the proposed dwellinghouses is limited somewhat to that of the 

existing buildings, given that the proposal is a conversion scheme. The scale and external 
appearance of units 1-6 is considered appropriate for this rural setting. The creation of plot 7 
would result in a single dwellinghouse which has the appearance of a modern agricultural barn. 
Whilst its appearance would not be domestic in character, given that the resultant building would 

17



   

be largely the same as that which exists on site at present, its physical impact on the character of 
the area would be no more harmful than existing. Indeed, the buildings, when viewed collectively 
would still appear as a collection of rural farm buildings appropriate to their setting. The addition 
of fencing and external lighting can be controlled by condition and therefore the urbanising effect 
of the development can be limited. 

 
 Impact on neighbours and the amenity of future residents 
 
9.16 The proposal would not result in detrimental impacts on neighbouring occupiers either through 

proximity to either indoor or outdoor living spaces at neighbouring properties, and/or from views 
that would result in loss of privacy. The proposed dwellinghouses would face the central part of 
the site in a linear arrangement with amenity areas either to the north or south and therefore 
impact on future occupiers would also be minimal. Existing neighbouring occupiers are of a 
significant distance away so as not to be harmed through the proposed conversion and resulting 
activity. 

 
 Impact on Wildlife/Trees 
 
9.17 The layout has been amended during the course of the application, including the relocation of the 

parking spaces for plot 1, to ensure minimal impact on trees. The Tree officer  is now satisfied 
with the proposed plans and accompanying information subject to conditions regarding tree 
protection, site storage, tree retention/replacement and landscaping (see conditions 15,16, 17 
and 18). 

 
9.18 The Council’s Ecologist is satisfied with the proposals, subject to conditions relating to, a wildlife-

sensitive lighting scheme (condition 11), precautionary measures in regard to badgers and 
nesting birds (condition 12), biodiversity enhancement scheme (condition 13) and a bat licence 
(condition 14). 

 
 Parking/Highways 
 
9.19 Despite objections from neighbouring occupiers regarding traffic, the Highways Authority have 

not raised any objection to the application regarding visibility, impact on the highway or 
intensification of the access points. Indeed, it is considered that there would be a benefit to 
highway safety as a result of the proposal given that only dwelling 1 utilising the southern-most 
access point (where visibility is poorer). The remainder of the dwellinghouses would use the 
northern most access point with vehicles serving plots 1, 2, 4, 5 and 6 cutting down the first 
driveway and vehicles serving plot 7 cutting down the second driveway. 

 
9.20 The current unmade track from the northern access point is to be reconstructed, providing a 

shared driveway width of 4.8m. The Highways Authority have advised that the width of the 
proposed access should be widened to a minimum of 5.5m for a distance of 10m from the 
highway. In addition, the access should be constructed in a bound material for the first 5m. This 
is to be controlled by condition (3 and 8). 

 
9.21 The application proposes off-street parking provision of two spaces per unit plus two visitor 

parking spaces for units one to six and three spaces for the five bedroom unit (plot 7) to the rear 
of the site. The number of parking spaces proposed complies with RBWM’s current parking 
standards and is therefore deemed acceptable. 

 
9.22 Concerns have been raised about the size of the garage to be converted not being up to modern 

day standards so this part of the proposal has been amended. A replacement garage is now 
proposed which is large enough to accommodate 4 vehicles. 

  
Affordable Housing 

  
9.23 With a site area of above 0.5 ha, the application it is caught by the Council’s adopted policy H3 

which advises that the Borough Council will seek to achieve that a proportion of the total capacity 
of suitable residential schemes be developed in the form of affordable housing. Suitable sites will 
include sites of 0.5 ha or over or schemes proposing 15 or more net additional dwellings and the 

18



   

Council’s SPD confirms that this policy applies to all types of residential development sites 
including change of use (conversion), mixed use sites that incorporate an element of residential 
development, older persons housing such as sheltered and extra care schemes and any other 
development where there is a net increase in the number of Class C3 residential units on the site. 
The revised NPPF (paragraph 63) advises that Affordable Housing will not be sought on schemes 
that are not major development, so as this application is classed as a major development 
Affordable Housing will be required in line with the Council’s adopted policy.  

 
9.24 The amount payable in this case, using the formula set out in the Council’s Affordable Housing 

guidance note is £299,705 and this is to be secured through a section 106 agreement to be 
completed prior to the granting of planning permission. No vacant building credit can be applied 
in this case as the proposal does not constitute the redevelopment of brownfield land which is the 
intention behind the Government’s vacant building credit provision. 

 
Other Material Considerations 

 
Housing Land Supply 

 
9.25 Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the NPPF (2018) set out that there will be a presumption in favour of 

Sustainable Development.  The latter paragraph states that: 
 

For decision-taking this means: approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the 
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless:  

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

 
9.26 Footnote 7 of the NPPF (2018) clarifies that policies which are most important for determining the 

application are out-of-date includes include, for applications involving the provision of housing, 
situations where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 
housing sites (with the appropriate buffer). 
 

9.27 Following the Regulation 19 consultation on the Submission Version of the Local Plan, the 
Council formally submitted in January 2018. The Borough Local Plan Submissions Version sets 
out a stepped housing trajectory over the plan period (2013-2033). As detailed in the supporting 
Housing Land Availability Assessment a five year supply of deliverable housing sites can be 
demonstrated against this proposed stepped trajectory. However as the BLPSV is not yet 
adopted planning policy, due regard also needs to be given regarding the NPPF (2018) standard 
method in national planning guidance to determine the minimum number of homes needed for 
the borough. At the time of writing, based on this methodology the Council is able to demonstrate 
a five year rolling housing land supply based on the current national guidance.   

 
10. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 
10.1 The application is liable for CIL as it creates new dwellings. 
 
11. CONCLUSION 
 
11.1 The proposed conversion of the existing buildings is considered to constitute appropriate 

development in the Green Belt in line with paragraph 146 of the NPPF, Local Plan Policies GB1 
and GB8 and emerging policy SP5 of the Borough Local Plan (submission version). The proposal 
would not be harmful to the character of the area or the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. 
Matters relating to impact on trees, highways, flooding and wildlife have been dealt with through 
the submission of technical reports. An affordable housing contribution in line with adopted policy 
H3 is to be secured via a section 106 agreement prior to the granting of planning permission. 

 
12. APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT 

19



   

  

 Appendix A - Site location plan and site layout 

 Appendix B – Plan and elevation drawings 

 
13. CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED REASONS  
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the date of this 

permission.  
Reason: To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended).  

 
2 The materials to be used on the external surfaces of the development shall be in accordance with 

those specified in the application unless any different materials are first agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1. 
 
3 No part of the development shall be occupied until the access has been constructed in 

accordance with details that have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The access shall thereafter be retained. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic.  Relevant Policies - Local 
Plan T5, DG1. 

 
4 No part of the development shall be occupied until vehicle parking and turning space has been 

provided, surfaced and marked out in accordance with the approved drawing.  The space 
approved shall be kept available for parking and turning in association with the development. 
Reason:  To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to 
reduce the likelihood of roadside parking which could be detrimental to the free flow of traffic and 
to highway safety, and to facilitate vehicles entering and leaving the highway in forward gear.  
Relevant Policies - Local Plan P4, DG1. 

 
5 Irrespective of the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Order 1995 (or subsequent modifications thereof), the garage accommodation on the site shall 
be kept available for the parking of vehicles associated with the development at all times. 
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to 
reduce the likelihood of roadside parking which could be detrimental to the free flow of traffic and 
to highway safety.  Relevant Policies - Local Plan P4, DG1. 

 
6 No part of the development shall be occupied until the refuse bin storage area and recycling 

facilities have been provided in accordance with the approved drawing.  These facilities shall be 
kept available for use in association with the development at all times. 
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate facilities that allow it to be 
serviced in a manner which would not adversely affect the free flow of traffic and highway safety 
and to ensure the sustainability of the development.  Relevant Policies - Local Plan T5, DG1. 

 
 7 The gradient of private drives shall not exceed 1 in 12. 

Reason:To ensure that adequate access to parking spaces and garages is provided. Relevant 
Policies - Local Plan T5, P4. 

 
8 No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until the access has been 

surfaced with a bonded material across the entire width of the access for a distance of at least 
five metres measured back from the highway boundary. 
Reason:To avoid spillage of loose material onto the carriageway which could adversely affect 
conditions of highway safety?  Relevant Policies - Local Plan T5. 

 
9 Irrespective of the provisions of Classes A, B, C, E, F and G of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Town 

and Country Planning (General  Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and 
re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no enlargement of any dwellinghouse or 
erection of any ancillary building within the curtilage of or to any dwellinghouse the subject of this 
permission shall be carried out without planning permission having first been obtained from the 

20



   

Local Planning Authority.    
Reason: The site is in the Green Belt and whilst the development subject to this permission is 
acceptable in the context of Local Plan and National Planning Policy Framework policies 
controlling development in the Green Belt, further development may be unlikely to be so and 
would need to be controlled in the interests of protecting the openness of the Green Belt.  
Relevant Policies - Local Plan GB1, GB2. 

 
10 Irrespective of the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) no fence, gate, wall or other means of enclosure shall be erected on the site without 
planning permission having first been obtained from the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To ensure the location, form, design and materials are appropriate for the character and 
appearance of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan GB2. 

 
11 No exterior lighting is to be installed until details of the lighting scheme and how it will not 

adversely impact upon wildlife have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  This shall include the following figures and appendices: 

 A layout plan with beam orientation  
  A schedule of equipment  
  Measures to avoid glare  

An isolux contour map showing light spillage to 1 lux both vertically and horizontally, and 
ecologically-sensitive areas The approved lighting plan shall thereafter be implemented as 
agreed. 
Reason: To ensure that wildlife is not adversely affected by the proposed development in line 
with Policy NR3 of the submitted Local Plan. 

 
12 The precautionary measures detailed in Section 6.13-6.37 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

(ACD Environmental, January 2018) shall be implemented in full, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the LPA. 
Reason: To ensure that wildlife is not adversely affected by the proposed development in line 
with Policy NR3 of the submitted Local Plan. 

 
13 No development hereby permitted shall commence until details of biodiversity enhancements, to 

include bird and bat boxes, tiles or bricks on and around the new buildings and native and wildlife 
friendly landscaping has been submitted and approved in writing by the LPA. 
Reason: To incorporate biodiversity in and around developments in accordance with paragraph 
175 of the NPPF. 

 
14 No works hereby permitted shall commence until a licence for development works affecting bats 

has been obtained from the Statutory Nature Conservation Organisation (Natural England) and a 
copy has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter mitigations measures 
approved in the licence shall be maintained in accordance with the approved details.  Should 
conditions at the site for bats change and the applicant conclude that a licence for development 
works affecting bats is not required, the applicant is to submit a report to the Local Planning 
Authority detailing the reasons for this assessment and this report is to be approved in writing by 
the council. 
Reason: To ensure that the LPA fulfils its duties under The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017, and that bats, a material consideration, are not adversely impacted upon by 
the proposed development. 

 
15 The erection of fencing for the protection of any retained tree and any other protection specified 

shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved plans and particulars before any 
equipment, machinery or materials are brought on to the site, and thereafter maintained until the 
completion of all construction work and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have 
been permanently removed from the site.  Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in 
accordance with this condition and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor 
shall any excavation be made, without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason:  To protect trees which contribute to the visual amenities of the site and surrounding 
area.  Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1, N6. 

 

21



   

16 Prior to the commencement of development details of the areas to be used for on site materials 
storage, construction workers' parking, and for ancillary temporary building(s) including any 
phasing of use such areas, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and the works shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.   
Reason:  To ensure that retained landscaping on the site is not damaged or destroyed during 
construction.  Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1, N6.   

 
17 No tree or hedgerow shown to be retained in the approved plans shall be cut down, uprooted or 

destroyed, nor shall any retained tree be lopped or topped other than in accordance with the 
approved plans and particulars or without the prior written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority, until five years from the date of occupation of the building for its permitted use.  Any 
topping or lopping approved shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998 Tree 
work.  If any retained tree is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree shall be 
planted in the immediate vicinity and that tree shall be of the same size and species unless the 
Local Planning Authority give its prior written consent to any variation.    
Reason:   In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.  Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1, 
N6.  

 
18 No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape works, have 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and these works shall 
be carried out as approved within the first planting season following the substantial completion of 
the development and retained in accordance with the approved details.  If within a period of five 
years from the date of planting of any tree or shrub shown on the approved landscaping plan, 
that tree or shrub, or any tree or shrub planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted or 
destroyed or dies, or becomes seriously damaged or defective, another tree or shrub of the same 
species and size as that originally planted shall be planted in the immediate vicinity, unless the 
Local Planning Authority gives its prior written consent to any variation.   
Reason:  To ensure a form of development that maintains, and contributes positively to, the 
character and appearance of the area.  Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1. 

 
19 No construction shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme for the development, 

based on sustainable drainage principles, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 Details shall include: 
 - Full details of all components of the proposed surface water drainage system including 
dimensions, locations, gradients, invert levels, cover levels and relevant construction details. 
- Supporting calculations confirming compliance with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for 
Sustainable Drainage Systems . 
- Details of the maintenance arrangements relating to the proposed surface water drainage 
system, confirming who will be responsible for its maintenance and the maintenance regime to be 
implemented. 
The surface water drainage system shall be implemented and maintained in accordance with the 
approved details thereafter. 
Reason: To ensure compliance with National Planning Practice Guidance and the Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems, and to ensure the proposed 
development is safe from flooding and does not increase flood risk elsewhere. 

 
20 Irrespective of the provisions of Classes A and B of Part 6 of Schedule 2 of the Town and 

Country Planning (General  Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification) no development in connection with agriculture 
permitted under these classes (or as amended) shall be carried out within the blue line on plan 
ref: 17-J2173-LP for a period of 10 years following the implementation of this planning 
permission, without planning permission having first been obtained from the Local Planning 
Authority.    
Reason: The site is in the Green Belt and outside of a designated settlement. Whilst the 
development is acceptable under paragraph 79 of the NPPF as it is the re-use of redundant or 
disused buildings the replacement of the buildings with other development would be contrary to 
the aims and interests of protecting the openness of the Green Belt and may indicate that the 
buildings were not genuinely redundant. A period of ten years is consistent with the period set out 
in the GPDO for class Q for removal of permitted development rights in similar circumstances.  

22



   

Relevant Policies - NPPF, Local Plan GB1, GB2. 
 
21 No development shall take place until any extensions, buildings and/or enclosures constructed 

under Article 3 and Classes A and B of Part 6 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order, 2015 (as amended or any Order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) following the granting of this permission 
and prior to the commencement of works the subject of this permission, have been removed or 
demolished in their entirety. All materials resulting from such removal/demolition shall be 
removed from the site by the substantial completion or occupation of the development hereby 
permitted, whichever is the sooner. 
Reason: The site is in the Green Belt and outside of a designated settlement. Whilst the 
development is acceptable under paragraph 79 of the NPPF as it is the re-use of redundant or 
disused buildings the replacement of the buildings with other development would be contrary to 
the aims and interests of protecting the openness of the Green Belt and may indicate that the 
buildings were not genuinely redundant. A period of ten years is consistent with the period set out 
in the GPDO for class Q for removal of permitted development rights in similar circumstances.  
Relevant Policies - NPPF, Local Plan GB1, GB2. 

 
22 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed below. 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 
particulars and plans. 

 
Informatives  
 
 1 The applicant should note that a separate application will need to be submitted to the Lead Local 

Flood Authority for approval, under Section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991, for any works 
affecting the cross section of any ordinary watercourse (including all ditches) crossing or 
adjacent to the site. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

23



Location Plan 

Appendix A 

24



Proposed site plan 

25



Proposed residential curtilages 

26



Floor plans and elevations—

plots 1 and 2 

Appendix B 

27



Floor plans and elevations—

plots 3 and 4 

28



Floor plans and elevations—

plots 5 and 6 

29



Floor plans and elevations—plot 7 

30



Replacement garage 

31



   

WINDSOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL 
 
6 March 2019          Item:  2 

Application 
No.: 

18/03507/FULL 

Location: 1 The Avenue Old Windsor Windsor SL4 2RS  
Proposal: Two storey front extension, two storey rear extension, loft conversion with new front 

and side facing dormers, sub-division to create 5 X one bedroom flats with bin and 
cycle stores following demolition of the existing garage. 

Applicant: Mr Hunter 
Agent: Mr Paul Davey 
Parish/Ward: Old Windsor Parish/Old Windsor Ward 
  

If you have a question about this report, please contact:  Adam Jackson on 01628 796660 or at 
adam.jackson@rbwm.gov.uk 

 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1  It has been demonstrated that the proposed development would have an acceptable impact on 

flooding and adequately takes account of flood risk and passes both the sequential and 
exceptions tests.  

 
1.2  The proposed extensions are of a suitable design and scale and are not considered to be 

harmful to the character and appearance of the area. The scale of the site is sufficient to 
accommodate the proposed development. 
 

1.3  It is not considered that the proposed development would have a significant impact on the 
standard of amenity currently enjoyed by neighbouring properties. The proposed development 
would also provide its future occupiers with an acceptable standard of accommodation and a 
good standard of outdoor amenity space. 
 

1.4 The proposed development would be provided with sufficient onsite parking spaces and would 
not result in highway safety concerns. 

 

It is recommended the Panel grants planning permission with the conditions listed in 
Section 13 of this report. 

 
2. REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION 
 

 The Council’s Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to 
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by the 
Panel. 

 
3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
3.1 The application site is on the corner of The Avenue and Straight Road in Old Windsor with 

access being from the former. The Avenue is a private residential cul-de-sac serving 23 
properties. The majority of properties are two storey and semi-detached, however, there are also 
a pair of bungalows and some larger detached dwellings within the road, including 1 The Avenue 
which sits at the entrance to the cul-de-sac with a similar detached dwelling on the opposite site. 

 
3.2 The existing property is 9.1m tall with an eaves height of 5.5m and a footprint of approximately 

72sqm and a total floor space of around 122sqm. The property has a gable ended roof and is 
painted in an off-white. The property is set within a spacious plot with a gravel driveway to the 
front and a garden to the rear.  

 
 
 

32



   

3.3 The application site is partially within flood zone 2 and partially within flood zone 3 which is an 
area considered to be at high risk from flooding. The majority of the site is within flood zone 3, 
however, a small section which encompasses part of the rear of the house and the outbuilding to 
the rear are within flood zone 2. 

 
4. KEY CONSTRAINTS   
 

 Flooding 
 
5. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
5.1 The proposed is for a two storey front extension, two storey rear extension and a loft conversion, 

including new front and side facing dormers in order to create 5 x one bedroom flats. The 
proposed front extension infills a gap created by the L shape of the existing building and does not 
therefore extend beyond the existing front elevation of the building. This section has a small 
crown roof.  The proposed rear extension is approximately 4.5m deep and includes 2 gable 
ended sections to match the existing roof form of the property. It is not proposed to increase the 
ridge height or eaves height of the dwelling. 

 
5.2 

Reference  Description  Decision  

18/00645/FULL Construction of two x 2 bedroom 
flats and four x 1 bedroom flats 
following the demolition of existing 
dwelling. 

Withdrawn – 16.04.2018 

18/01704/FULL Two storey rear extension with 
partial accommodation in roof space, 
two storey front extension and new 
side facing dormer, subdivision to 
create x2 two bedroom flats, x2 one 
bedroom flats and x2 studio flats 
with bin a cycle stores following 
demolition of the existing garage. 

Withdrawn – 30.08.2018 

 
6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
 Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003) 
 
6.1 The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are: 
  

Issue Adopted Local Plan Policy 

Design in keeping with character and appearance 
of area 

DG1, H10, H11 

Highways P4, T5 

Trees N6 

Flooding F1 

 
 These policies can be found at 

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices 
 
7. MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS  
 
 National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2018) 
 
 Section 4- Decision–making  

Section 9- Promoting Sustainable Transport  
Section 12- Achieving well-designed places  

 Section 14- Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
  

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version  
33

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices


   

 

Issue Local Plan Policy Level of Weight 

Design in keeping with character and 
appearance of area 

SP2, SP3 
Significant 

Sustainable Transport   IF2 Significant 

Trees NR2 Significant 

Flooding NR1 Limited 

 
7.1 The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 

according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was 
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following 
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations 
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received 
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents have now been 
submitted to the Secretary of State for examination. The Submission Version of the Borough 
Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough. However, by 
publishing and submitting the Borough Local Plan for independent examination the Council has 
formally confirmed its intention to adopt the submission version. As the Council considers the 
emerging Borough Local Plan to be sound and legally compliant, officers and Councillors should 
accord relevant policies and allocations significant weight in the determination of applications 
taking account of the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies. 
Therefore, the weight afforded to each policy at this stage will differ depending on the level and 
type of representation to that policy. This is addressed in more detail in the assessment below 
and detailed in the table above. 

 
This document can be found at: 
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/201026/borough_local_plan/1351/submission/1 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents 

 
7.2 Supplementary Planning Documents relevant to the proposal are: 
 

 RBWM Interpretation of Policy F1 
 
Other Local Strategies or Publications 

 
7.3 Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are: 
 

  RBWM Townscape Assessment  

  RBWM Parking Strategy 
 
 More information on these documents can be found at:  
 https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planni

ng 
 
8. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 
 Comments from interested parties 
 
 22 occupiers were notified directly of the application. 
 
 The planning officer posted a notice advertising the application at the site on 11.12.2018  
  
 16 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised as:  
 
 
 
 

34

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/201026/borough_local_plan/1351/submission/1
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning


   

Comment Officer response 

1. Objections to the previous applications have not been 
addressed. 

Concerns with previous 
application related to 
flooding and design – 
These issues have been 
considered in paragraphs 
9.2 to 9.8 and 9.9 to 9.14 
respectively. 

2. Insufficient time given to comment on the application The statutory time period 
for comment has been 
provided. 

3. The flats will exacerbate existing parking and congestion 
problems within The Avenue. Cars parked on The Avenue 
or Straight Road will reduce highway safety. 

Parking issues have been 
considered in paragraphs 
9.19 to 9.21. 

4. The development will result in additional large refuse and 
service vehicles using the road, which is unsuitable to 
accommodate vehicles of this size. 

The number of additional 
service vehicles using the 
road as a result of the 
development is unlikely to 
be so significant so as to 
cause highway safety 
issues. 

5. Trees on the verge have been removed. These trees were not 
protected and as such can 
be removed. 

6. The drains will not be able to handle 5 extra flats. This is not a material 
planning consideration. 

7. The Avenue is a private Road – No.1 does not pay into the 
road maintenance fund and the increase in traffic will lead 
to an increase in cost for residents. 

This is a civil matter 
between the applicant and 
the other residents of The 
Avenue. 

8. Demolition and construction will cause major disruption to 
all residents of The Avenue. 

A construction 
management plan condition 
has been suggested to 
keep the disruption to 
neighbours at a minimum. 

9. The development would overlook neighbouring properties. The impact on neighbours 
has been considered in 
paragraphs 9.15 to 9.18 

10. The development will cause a loss of light for neighbouring 
properties. 

The impact on neighbours 
has been considered in 
paragraphs 9.15 to 9.18 

11. Noise would be an issue due to the number of tenants 
using the property and gardens. 

It is unlikely that noise from 
the property would be so 
significant so as to disturb 
neighbouring properties 
especially given this is 
already a built up 
residential area. Noise 
complaints should be 
directed to the Council’s 
Environmental Protection 
Team.  

12. There will be issues with the maintenance of the shared 
boundary hedge. 

This is not a material 
planning consideration. 

13. Movements in and out of The Avenue could be challenged 
by other residents if the appropriate deeds for right of way 
down The Avenue are not in place. 

This is a civil matter 
between the applicant and 
the other residents of The 
Avenue. 

35



   

14. The size of the extension is too large and is not in keeping 
with the feel of the village or road. 

Design issues have been 
considered in paragraphs 
9.9 to 9.14. 

15. Extending this property would unbalance the two 
properties which mirror one another at the entrance to The 
Avenue. 

Design issues have been 
considered in paragraphs 
9.9 to 9.14. 

16. The existing shed does not appear to exist so 7.42sqm 
should not be included in ground covered area 
calculations. 

Noted – Flooding issues 
have been considered in 
paragraphs 9.2 to 9.8. 

17. The application site is in a flood zone and the development 
will put additional pressure on the emergency services and 
will block access for rescue vehicles needing to get to the 
end of The Avenue. 

Flooding issues have been 
considered in paragraphs 
9.2 to 9.8. 

 
 Statutory consultees 
 

Consultee Comment Officer response 

Environment 
Agency 

Objects to the application due to the lack of an 
acceptable flood risk assessment (FRA). 
Specifically the FRA fails to demonstrate that the 
loss of flood plain storage can be mitigated for.  

See paragraphs 9.2 to 9.8. 

 
 Consultees 
 

Consultee Comment Officer response 

Environmental 
Protection 

Recommends conditions restricting construction 
working hours and collection/delivery hours 
during construction and demolition to protect 
amenity of adjoining neighbours. 

N/A – It is not considered 
necessary to add these 
conditions as working hours 
are a matter for 
Environmental Protection 
and not Planning and 
delivery arrangements can 
be deal with under the 
construction management 
plan. 

Highways Suggests conditions relating to: 

 Construction management 

 Parking and turning 

 Cycle parking; and 

 Refuse/recycling provision. 

Noted – Parking and 
highway safety issues are 
considered in paragraphs 
9.19 to 9.21. 

 
9. EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION 
 
9.1 The key issues for consideration are: 
 

i  The impact on flooding 
 
ii  The impact on the character of the area 
 
iii  The impact on residential amenity 
 
iv  The impact on parking and highway safety 
 
The impact on flooding 

 
9.2 The application site is located partially within flood zone 2 and partially within flood zone 3, 

however, the majority of the site is flood zone 3, which is an area considered to be at high risk 
from flooding. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out that applications within 
zones 2 and 3 should be supported by a site specific flood risk assessment (FRA) and local 

36



   

planning authorities when determining planning applications should ensure that flood risk is not 
increased elsewhere. Paragraph 163 also sets out that: 

 

 Within a site the most vulnerable development should be located within the areas of 
lowest flood risk 

 The development should be appropriately flood resistant and resilient 

 The development should incorporate sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear 
evidence this would be inappropriate 

 Any residual flood risk should be able to be safely managed; and 

 Safe access and escape routes should be included where appropriate. 
 

Due to the scale and nature of the proposed development is it also necessary for the sequential 
and exceptions tests to be applied in this case. Paragraph 158 of the NPPF sets out that the aim 
of the sequential test is to steer new development to areas with the lowest risk of flooding and 
that development should not be permitted if there are any reasonably available sites, appropriate 
for the proposed development in an area of lower flood risk. For the exceptions test to be passed 
paragraph 160 sets out that it should be demonstrated that the development would provide wider 
sustainability benefits that outweigh flood risk and that the development will be safe for its lifetime 
taking into account the vulnerability of its users. The application of the exceptions test should be 
informed by the FRA. Policy F1 of the Local Plan is fairly consistent with the NPPF as it is 
concerned with limiting and managing floodrisk. Local Plan Policy F1 sets out that development 
including residential extension in excess of 30sqm will not be permitted unless it can be 
demonstrated that the development would not impede the flow of flood water, reduce the capacity 
of the flood plain to store water or increase the number of people or properties at risk from 
flooding. 

 
 Sequential test 
 
9.3 The applicant has undertaken the sequential test and has considered the application site against 

the identified potential housing sites contained within the Council’s Housing and Economic Land 
Availability Assessment (HELAA). The applicant considers that sites between 0.05 and 0.25ha 
are most appropriate for a development of this size, which is agreed. The HELAA does not fully 
assess sites below 0.25ha as their contribution to the Borough’s Housing Land Supply would be 
limited, however, it does still list them within the ‘excluded sites’ section and there are 26 sites 
within this section between 0.05 and 0.25ha. The applicant has also considered sites within the 
‘Deliverable Housing Sites’, ‘Developable Housing Sites’ and ‘Potentially Developable Housing 
Sites’ section of the HELAA as well as 12 additional potential sites identified via a search of 
rightmove.co.uk at the time that the sequential test was undertaken. This gives a total of 63 sites 
that were considered. Of the sites considered all were dismissed as either not appropriate due to 
planning constraints (such as being within the Green Belt, the proximity of Conservation Areas 
and Listed Buildings or not being sequentially preferable in flooding terms) or unavailable due to 
land ownership issues or because another development has recently commenced or been 
completed. It is considered that the sequential test has been passed. 

 
 Flood Risk Assessment 
 
9.4 One of the main aims of the flood risk assessment is to ensure that flood risk will not be 

increased elsewhere. As set out above policy F1 of the Local Plan restricts residential extensions 
to just 30sqm ground covered area (GCA) however this policy only applies to flood zone 3 and 
not flood zone 2. Part of the proposed rear extension is within flood zone 2 and is less likely to be 
affected by flooding and has not therefore been included in the GCA calculations. The total 
increase in ground covered area within flood zone 3 is 21.5sqm. The applicant is proposing to 
demolish a number of sheds and outbuildings in order to offset the increase in GCA, however, 
only 7.5m2 of one of the sheds is within flood zone 3 and there have been some questions from 
neighbours as to whether this even remains on site. In any case this shed would likely be 
considered a floodable structure and would not therefore contribute to the existing ground 
covered area of the site. Importantly however it is not required in any case to offset the 21.5 sqm 
increase in GCA from the proposed extensions as this is below the 30sqm allowed under policy 
F1. Whilst the EA have objected to this proposal this is on the grounds that the FRA did not show 
adequate compensation for the additional GCA given the weight to be given to Local Plan Policy 

37



   

F1 which forms part of the Development Plan the proposal is considered acceptable in this 
regard. 

 
9.5 It is not possible to locate the development in an area of lower flood risk as the application is for 

extensions to an existing dwelling and in any case the extensions are already partially within flood 
zone 2 which is the lowest flood risk area on the site. The predicted flood levels for the site when 
taking into account climate change are 18.19(AOD) furthermore it is proposed to use permeable 
materials as well as an underground attenuation tank which will allow water to drain into the tank 
where it will be discharge into the existing sewer at a suitable rate and given the scale of the 
development this is considered an acceptable approach. The application site is also located 
within an area which benefits from the Old Windsor Embankment flood defence. The applicant 
has also demonstrated that a low hazard escape route is available within design flood conditions, 
allowing people to safely leave the property.  

 
9.6 The application to convert the existing dwelling into 5 flats would increase the number of people 

and properties at risk from flooding, however, it has been demonstrated that in the event of a 
flood it is possible to exit the site and reach an area outside of the flood zone via a low hazard 
escape route. The route takes you via Straight Road where you would travel approximately 250m 
before turning into the recreation ground following the footpath until Cornwell Road where you 
would continue onto Burfield Road and finally Crimp Hill. Ground levels and predicted flood levels 
have been used to predict the depth of flood water along the evacuation route with the depth of 
flooding never exceeding 240mm. It is predicted that flood water would be travelling at 0.1m/s, 
therefore giving the flood evacuation route a ‘very low hazard’ rating. Plan number 
170989/FRA/03 within appendix C of the FRA shows this route as well as a vehicular route which 
allows emergency services to reach the site in the event of a flood. The proposal is considered to 
comply with paragraph 163 of the NPPF and policy F1 of the Local Plan. 

 
 Exceptions Test 
 
9.7 The applicant has set out in the ‘Site Sequential and Exceptions Test’ document the wider 

sustainability benefits of the proposal which includes: The use of an underused site and the 
provision of additional housing in Old Windsor, the generation of jobs during the course of the 
construction works and helping to sustain existing community facilities. The applicant has also 
demonstrated through the FRA that the development would be safe for its life time, taking into 
account the vulnerability of its users (including climate change) and by providing suitable 
sustainable drainage systems for the site. In addition as set out above a low hazard escape route 
is available in design flood conditions and any residual risk should flood defences fail can be 
safely managed through a flood management and evacuation plan. The development is 
considered to pass the exceptions test. 

 
9.8 Overall the development passes the sequential test as it has been demonstrated that there are 

no alternative sites in areas of lower flood risk which are reasonably available or suitable. It has 
also been demonstrated that development would not increase flood risk elsewhere and has been 
designed to take into account flood risk in accordance with paragraph 163 of the NPPF. The 
exceptions test is passed as the development would provide wider sustainability benefits which 
outweigh flood risk and the development would be safe for its lifetime taking into account the 
vulnerability of its users. The proposal would comply therefore with Paragraphs 158, 160 and 163 
of the NPPF and Policy F1 of the Local Plan. The proposal would not be fully in compliance with 
Policy NR1 of the Borough Local Plan Submission version however given the level of unresolved 
objection to this policy it is only afforded limited weight. 

 
 The impact on the character of the area 
 
9.9 Paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework sets out that development should be 

sympathetic to local character and should be visually attractive as a result of good architecture, 
layout and appropriate and effective landscaping. Paragraph 130 sets out that permission should 
be refused for developments of poor design which fail to take the opportunities available for 
improving the character and quality of an area. Policy DG1 of the Local Plan sets out design 
standards for all new development within the Borough and policies H10 and H11 set out design 
standards specific to residential development. H10 sets out that new residential development 

38



   

schemes will be required to display high standards of design and H11 sets out that permission 
will not be granted for schemes which introduce a scale of density of development which would 
be incompatible with or cause damage to the character of amenity of an area.  

 
9.10 The proposal includes 2 extensions, the larger of which is to the rear of the property. This 

extension is 2 stories in height, however, is set down approximately 0.4m from the main ridge of 
the existing dwelling and includes 2 gable ends with a valley in between in order to reduce the 
bulk. The gable ends mimic the roof form of the existing house and ensure that the development 
does not appear as an incongruous addition. The depth of the extension is 4.5m, however, this 
would not appear disproportionate as the existing dwelling has a depth of 8.2m. A dormer window 
and other fenestration on the side elevation facing The Avenue help to break up what would 
otherwise be a blank wall and provide visual interest. Overall this extension is considered to be of 
a suitable design and scale and is in keeping with the host dwelling. 

 
9.11 The other extension proposed is a 2 storey front extension. This extension is set down 

significantly from the main ridge of the existing dwelling and sits comfortably within the gap 
created by the L shape of the existing property. The extension does not extend beyond the front 
elevation of the existing dwelling and is considered to be of an appropriate scale. The extension 
includes a crown roof, which is not in keeping with the existing roof, however, is only a small 
section and is similar in design to a front extension at number 22 opposite.  

 
9.12 It is proposed to add in two new dormer windows, one in the front elevation and the other in the 

side elevation facing onto The Avenue. Both dormers are moderately sized with pitched roofs to 
match the roof style of the host dwelling and would not cause harm to its appearance. In addition 
there are other dormer windows within the Avenue and along Straight Road.  

 
9.13 The application site although part of the Avenue is actually aligned with the sites along Straight 

Road. No.1 and No.22 sit either side of the entrance into The Avenue and face onto Straight 
Road with the rest of the properties with the Avenue sitting behind at a 90 degree angle. The 
plots for these 2 properties are also much larger than the majority of the other plots within the 
Avenue and as such can accommodate a larger scale of development. It is considered that the 
application site is sufficient in size to accommodate a development of this scale as well as the 
additional parking and residential paraphernalia associated with a flatted development without 
appearing cramped. 

 
9.14 It is considered that the proposed extensions are of a suitable design and scale and would not 

harm the character or appearance of the host dwelling or surrounding area. The site is of a 
sufficient size to accommodate a flatted development and would not appear cramped. The 
proposal therefore complies with paragraphs 127 and 130 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, policies DG1, H10 and H11 of the Local Plan and SP3 of the Borough Local Plan 
Submission Version. 

  
The impact on residential amenity 
 

9.15 Paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework sets out that developments should 
provide a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 

 
9.16 The application site is in a built up residential area and shares a boundary with 3 properties 

immediately adjacent to the site in No. 53 Straight Road, No.2 The Avenue and No.5 Glebe 
Road. No. 2 The Avenue is at the end of the rear garden with a gap of approximately 23m from 
the rear of the proposed extension to the rear boundary; this is considered sufficient to prevent 
any significant overlooking or loss of privacy, light or outlook. No. 5 Glebe Road is also near the 
end of the garden and offset to the north, limiting any impact on this property. No.53 is the closest 
property with the proposed extensions being adjacent to the southern boundary of this property’s 
garden. No.53’s garden, however, is approximately 22m long and up to 10m wide and whilst the 
proposed extensions would likely lead to some small loss of light within this garden the overall 
impact would not be significant. There is 1 window proposed within the north elevation of the 
existing dwelling, however, this is to a bathroom and as such can be obscurely glazed in order to 
prevent any overlooking into No.53’s garden.  On the opposite side of the road is No.22 The 
Avenue, however, this is 17m away and as such any views from the side windows of number 1 

39



   

The Avenue into this neighbours property would not be significant. Any views into their garden 
would also be at an angle and not direct. 

 
9.17 The proposed flats would be provided with a shared garden space to the rear of approximately 

350sqm which is sufficient to provide all the future occupiers with a good standard of outdoor 
amenity space. In addition the application site is next to the Old Windsor Recreation Ground 
which can be accessed from Queens Close opposite. Each flat has a minimum floor space of 
50sqm and will be provided with good levels of light. An amended plan has been submitted which 
shows the finished floor levels and internal roof height for each floor, demonstrating that the flat 
within the loft will be provided with sufficient headspace in accordance with the technical housing 
standards. 

 
9.18 In conclusion the proposed development would have an acceptable impact on the amenity of 

neighbouring residential occupiers and would provide its future occupiers with a sufficient 
standard of amenity. The proposal complies with paragraph 127 of the NPPF. 

 
 The impact on parking and highway safety 
 
9.19 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF sets out that development should only be refused on highway 

grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe. Policy P4 of the Local Plan sets out that 
development proposals will be required to provide car parking in accordance with the adopted 
standards which are now set out in the 2004 Parking Strategy and policy T5 sets out that 
development will be expected to comply with the Council’s adopted highway design standards. 

 
9.20 The Borough’s parking standards set out that a 1 bed residential unit should be provided with 1 

parking space, making the total requirement for the development to be 5 parking spaces. The 
proposed site plan shows that there would be space for at least 8 cars on the front driveway and 
as such the proposal over provides. The driveway is also realistically large enough that additional 
cars could park on the driveway should there be visitors or tradespersons on site. It is considered 
highly unlikely therefore that the development would lead to parking on the highway which would 
lead to highway safety issues. Space for cycle as well as refuse/recycling storage has been 
shown on the proposed site plan and specific details of these stores will need to be provided via 
condition. 

 
9.21 In conclusion the proposed development would be provided with sufficient parking space and 

would not have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or a severe impact on the road 
network. The proposed development would comply with paragraph 109 of the NPPF and policies 
P4 and T5 of the Local Plan. Whilst the proposal does provide more parking than required and is 
therefore not totally in accordance with Policy IF2 of the Borough Local Plan Submission Version 
this is an area of existing hardstanding and given the relatively small scale nature of the proposal 
this slight over provision is not considered to render the scheme unacceptable. It is noted that Old 
Windsor has a high car ownership level and that it is not well served by public transport with the 
nearest train stations located in Staines or Windsor. 

 
 Other Material Considerations 
 
 Housing Land Supply 
 
9.22 Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the NPPF (2018) set out that there will be a presumption in favour of 

Sustainable Development.  The latter paragraph states that: 
 

For decision-taking this means: approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the 
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless:  
 

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

40



   

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

 
9.23 Footnote 7 of the NPPF (2018) clarifies that policies which are most important for determining the 

application are out-of-date includes include, for applications involving the provision of housing, 
situations where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 
housing sites (with the appropriate buffer). 
 

9.24 Following the Regulation 19 consultation on the Submission Version of the Local Plan, the 
Council formally submitted in January 2018. The Borough Local Plan Submissions Version sets 
out a stepped housing trajectory over the plan period (2013-2033). As detailed in the supporting 
Housing Land Availability Assessment a five year supply of deliverable housing sites can be 
demonstrated against this proposed stepped trajectory. However as the BLPSV is not yet 
adopted planning policy, due regard also needs to be given regarding the NPPF (2018) standard 
method in national planning guidance to determine the minimum number of homes needed for 
the borough. At the time of writing, based on this methodology the Council is able to demonstrate 
a five year rolling housing land supply based on the current national guidance.   

 
10. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 
10.1 The development is CIL liable and proposed floor space is chargeable at a rate of £240 per sqm. 
 
11. CONCLUSION 
 
11.1 The development passes the sequential test as it has been demonstrated that there are no 

alternative sites in areas of lower flood risk which are reasonably available or suitable. It has also 
been demonstrated that development would not increase flood risk elsewhere in accordance with 
Local Plan Policy F1 and has been designed to take into account flood risk in accordance with 
paragraph 163 of the NPPF. The exceptions test is passed as the development would provide 
wider sustainability benefits which outweigh flood risk and the development would be safe for its 
lifetime taking into account the vulnerability of its users. The proposal complies with Paragraphs 
158, 160 and 163 of the NPPF and Policy F1 of the Local Plan. 

 
11.2 The proposed extensions are of a suitable design and scale and would not harm the character or 

appearance of the host dwelling or surrounding area. The site is of a sufficient size to 
accommodate a flatted development and would not appear cramped. The proposal complies with 
paragraphs 127 and 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework and policies DG1, H10 and 
H11 of the Local Plan and Policy SP3 of the BLPSV. 

 
11.3 The proposed development would have an acceptable impact on the amenity of neighbouring 

residential occupiers and would provide its future occupiers with a sufficient standard of amenity. 
The proposal complies with paragraph 127 of the NPPF. 

 
11.4 The proposed development would be provided with sufficient parking space and would not have 

an unacceptable impact on highway safety or a severe impact on the road network. The 
proposed development complies with paragraph 109 of the NPPF and policies P4 and T5 of the 
Local Plan. 

  
12. APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT 
  

 Appendix A - Site location plan and site layout 

 Appendix B – Plan and elevation drawings 

 
13. CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the date of this 

permission.  
Reason: To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended).  

 

41



   

2 The construction of the external surfaces of the building(s) hereby permitted shall not be 
commenced until details of the materials to be used have first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out and maintained in 
accordance with the approved details.  

 Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policy DG1 
 
3 The first floor window(s) in the north elevation of the dwelling shall be of a permanently fixed, 

non-opening design, with the exception of an opening toplight that is a minimum of 1.7m above 
the finished internal floor level, and fitted with obscure glass and the window shall not be altered 
without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To prevent overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers.  Relevant Policies 
- Local Plan H11. 

 
4 No further window(s) shall be inserted at first floor level in the north elevation of the dwelling 

without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To prevent overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers. Relevant Policies 
- Local Plan H11. 

 
5 Prior to the commencement of any works or demolition a construction management plan showing 

how demolition and construction traffic, (including cranes), materials storage, facilities for 
operatives and vehicle parking and manoeuvring will be accommodated during the works period 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall be 
implemented as approved and maintained for the duration of the works or as may be agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic.  Relevant Policies - Local 
Plan T5. 

 
6 No part of the development shall be occupied until vehicle parking and turning space has been 

provided, surfaced and marked out in accordance with the approved drawing.  The space 
approved shall be kept available for parking and turning in association with the development.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to 
reduce the likelihood of roadside parking which could be detrimental to the free flow of traffic and 
to highway safety, and to facilitate vehicles entering and leaving the highway in forward gear. 
Relevant Policies - Local Plan P4, DG1. 

 
7 No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure cycle parking facilities 

have been provided in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  These facilities shall thereafter be kept available for the 
parking of cycles in association with the development at all times.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to 
encourage the use of alternative modes of transport. Relevant Policies - Local Plan T7, DG1 

 
8 No part of the development shall be occupied until the refuse bin storage area and recycling 

facilities have been provided in accordance with the approved drawing. These facilities shall be 
kept available for use in association with the development at all times.  
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate facilities that allow it to be 
serviced in a manner which would not adversely affect the free flow of traffic and highway safety 
and to ensure the sustainability of the development.  Relevant Policies - Local Plan T5, DG1. 

 
9 No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape works, have 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and these works shall 
be carried out as approved within the first planting season following the substantial completion of 
the development and retained thereafter in accordance with the approved details.  If within a 
period of five years from the date of planting of any tree or shrub shown on the approved 
landscaping plan, that tree or shrub, or any tree or shrub planted in replacement for it, is 
removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, or becomes seriously damaged or defective, another 
tree or shrub of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted in the 
immediate vicinity, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.   
Reason: To ensure a form of development that maintains, and contributes positively to, the 
character and appearance of the area.  Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1. 

42



   

 
10 The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in accordance with 

the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) by Lanmor Consulting ref: 170989/FRA/JR/RS/01/E 
and the following mitigation measures as detailed: 

 - finished floor levels to be set no lower than 18.49 metres AOD; 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently in 
accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any 
other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority. 
Reason: This condition is sought in accordance with paragraph 163 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF), the associated National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) and 
saved policy F1 of the RBWM Local Plan (Adopted 2003) to ensure that flood risk is not 
increased onsite or elsewhere. Furthermore, it seeks to protect people and property from 
flooding. 

 
11 Any new or replacement hard surfaces shall be made of porous materials and retained thereafter 

unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding - Relevant policy: Local Plan F1 
 
12 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed below. 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 
particulars and plans. 

 
Informatives  
 
 1 Where noise complaints from residents or businesses are likely then the permitted hours of 

operation for noise generating activities are restricted to standard hours. Monday to Friday: 
08.00-18.00, Saturday: 08.00-13.00 and no working on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

 
 2 The Royal Borough receives a large number of complaints relating to construction burning 

activities. The applicant should be aware that any burning that gives rise to a smoke nuisance is 
actionable under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. Further that any burning that gives rise 
to dark smoke is considered an offence under the Clean Air Act 1993. It is the Environmental 
Protection Team policy that there should be no fires on construction or demolition sites. All 
construction and demolition waste should be taken off site for disposal. The only exceptions 
relate to knotweed and in some cases infected timber where burning may be considered the best 
practicable environmental option. In these rare cases we would expect the contractor to inform 
the Environmental Protection Team before burning. 

 
 3 The applicant and their contractor should take all practicable steps to minimise dust deposition 

outside the site boundaries which is a major cause of nuisance to residents living near to 
construction and demolition sites. All loose materials should be covered up or damped down by 
a suitable water device, all cutting/breaking is appropriately damped down, the haul route is 
paved or tarmac before works commence and is regularly swept and damped down, and to 
ensure the site is appropriately screened to prevent dust nuisance to neighbouring properties. 
The applicant is advised to follow guidance: the London Code of Practice, Part 1: The Control of 
Dust from Construction; and the Building Research Establishment: Control of dust from 
construction and demolition activities. 

 
 4 The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Berkshire Act 1986, Part II, and Clause 9, which 

enables the Highway Authority to recover the costs of repairing damage to the footway or grass 
verge arising during building operations. 

 
 5 The attention of the applicant is drawn to Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980 which enables 

the Highway Authority to recover expenses due to extraordinary traffic. 
 
 6 No builder's materials, plant or vehicles related to the implementation of the development should 

be parked/stored on the public highway so as to cause an obstruction at any time.  
 

43



Appendix A—Site location plan 

44



Appendix B—Plans and elevations 

 

Existing plans 

45



Proposed plans 

46



   

Appeal Decision Report 
 

4 January 2019 - 25 February 2019 
 

 
WINDSOR RURAL 
 
 
 
 
 

Appeal Ref.: 18/60122/REF Planning Ref.: 17/03504/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355W/18/

3198815 

Appellant: Dr Willsher c/o Agent: Mrs Fiona Jones Cameron Jones Planning 3 Elizabeth Gardens 

Ascot SL5 9BJ 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Change of use of retail unit to mixed A1 (retail) and D1 (dental surgery) 

Location: Location  48 High Street Sunninghill Ascot SL5 9NF 

Appeal Decision: Allowed Decision Date: 4 January 2019 

 

Main Issue: 

 

The inspector concluded that the expansion of the dentist surgery would likely result in 

additional linked trips to other shops and businesses, benefiting the centre as a whole and 

gave significant weight to policy TR5 of the emerging Borough Local Plan which supports 

non-retail uses and services provided the overall function of the centre and opportunities for 

customer choice are maintained. The inspector concluded that this is a material 

consideration which indicates that a decision which is not in full accordance with the adopted 

development plan is justified despite the conflict with policies SNH1 and S7 of the Local Plan 

due to the partial loss of the retail unit. 

 

 

Appeal Ref.: 18/60126/ENF Enforcement 

Ref.: 

17/50148/ENF PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/C/18/

3197660 

Appellant: MS HANNAH LEWIS c/o Agent: Mr Trevor Dennington Land Planning Associates Thurston 

Lodge Sandpit Lane Thurston Suffolk IP31 3SD 

Decision Type:  Officer Recommendation:  

Description: Appeal against the Enforcement Notice:  Without planning permission the erection of a fence 

(also referred to as a means of enclosure) adjacent to a highway. 

Location: 15 Brockenhurst Road Ascot SL5 9DJ  

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 6 February 2019 

 

Main Issue: 

 

The inspector considered that the fence to the front has caused substantial harm to the 

character and appearance of the area. The fence to the side and rear was considered to be 

less conspicuous than that to the front but, nonetheless, was deemed to have caused harm 

on account of its height and design. Both fences were deemed to be contrary to the aims of 

policy NP/DG3.1 of the NP and policy DG1 (particularly sub-paragraphs 3, 4 and 11) of The 

Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Plan (2003).   The inspector stated that 

whilst the Local Plan may be of some vintage, the policy remained part of the development 

plan and is therefore consistent with the design related aims of chapter 12 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) and attached full weight to it accordingly. 

 

 

47

Agenda Item 5



   

Appeal Ref.: 18/60127/ENF Enforcement 

Ref.: 

16/50281/ENF PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/C/18/

3197671 

Appellant: Mr Stuart Kinner c/o Agent: Mr Edward Mather Colony Architects 4 Mount Pleasant 

Cottages Bracknell Road Warfield Berkshire RG42 6LA 

Decision Type:  Officer Recommendation: No Further Action 

Description: Appeal against the Enforcement notice:  Without planning permission the erection of a 

replacement property border (boundary treatment) with new wall, pillars, rear fence panels 

and front railings over 1m and adjacent to a Highway. 

Location: 2 Oakdene Sunningdale Ascot SL5 0BU  

Appeal Decision: Part Allowed Decision Date: 4 February 2019 

 

Main Issue: 

 

The Inspector found that the side and rear wall caused visual harm to the surrounding area 

and therefore he granted planning permission for the wall and railings to the front of the 

house but refused permission for the wall and fencing to the rear and the enforcement notice 

was upheld in this respect. Under the terms of section 180 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 an enforcement notice shall cease to have effect where planning permission is 

granted after the service of an enforcement notice in relation to development described in the 

breach of planning control. In other words, the notice will cease to have effect in relation to 

the wall and railings to the front of the house. 

 

 
 

Appeal Ref.: 18/60141/REF Planning Ref.: 18/01904/FULL PIns Ref.: APP/T0355/D/18/

3215484 

Appellant: Mr And Mrs P Waters c/o Agent: Mr Duncan Gibson Duncan Gibson Consultancy 74 

Parsonage Lane Windsor Berkshire SL4 5EN 

Decision Type: Delegated Officer Recommendation: Refuse 

Description: Part single storey rear extension and part first floor side extension over existing garage 

Location: Albany House  Whynstones Road Ascot SL5 9HW 

Appeal Decision: Dismissed Decision Date: 23 January 2019 

 

Main Issue: 

 

The Inspector concluded that the proposed scheme would have a materially adverse impact 

on the character and appearance of the area due to its threat to the short and long term 

health of T2 and T3. The scheme would therefore conflict with policy N6 of the Local Plan, 

policy NP/EN2 of the NP, policies SP2, SP3 and NE2 of the Emerging Local Plan and the 

Framework. 

 

 
 
 

 
 

48


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT.docx access to info.pdf
	Declaring Interests at Meetings (Oct 2015).pdf

	3 Minutes
	4 Planning Applications (decision)
	All_planning_applications

	5 Essential Monitoring Reports (monitoring)

